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IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE ARMED FORCES

UNI TED STATES, BRI EF ON BEHALF OF APPELLEE

Appel | ant,
V.
Crim App. Dkt. No. ACM 36508
Brandon T. Rose, USCA Dkt. No. 09-5003/ AF
Airman Basic (E-1)
United States Air Force,

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
Appel | ee. )
TO THE JUDGES OF THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE ARMED FORCES

Decisional Issue

Whet her Appellee’s civilian defense counsel
provi ded ineffective assistance of counsel
by providi ng advi ce concerni ng sex offender
registration that would | ead a reasonabl e
listener to believe that such registration
woul d not be required when, in fact,

regi stration was required; Appellee credibly
testified that he woul d have pl eaded not
guilty to the offenses requiring

regi stration had he been properly advised;
and Appellee’s civilian defense counsel
woul d not have reconmended that Appell ee
plead guilty to the offenses had he known
they would require registration.

Statement of Statutory Jurisdiction
Appel | ee’ s approved sentence included both a di shonorabl e
di scharge and confinenent for nore than a year, which brought
his case within the Air Force Court of Crimnal Appeals’ Article
66 jurisdiction. See Article 66(b)(1), Uniform Code of Mlitary
Justice (UCMJ), 10 U. S.C. 8 866(b)(1) (2006). On August 15,

2011, the Air Force Court of Crimnal Appeals issued a second



decision in this case. United States v. Rose, No. ACM
36508(rem (A.F. . Cim App. Aug. 15, 2011) (en banc)
[ Appendi x]. On Septenber 14, 2011, the Judge Advocate General
of the Air Force filed a certificate for review, bringing this
case within this Court’s jurisdiction. See Article 67(a)(2),
UCMJI, 10 U.S.C. § 867(a)(2) (2006).
Statement of the Case

On Cctober 11, 2005, Appellee was tried by a general court-
martial conposed of a mlitary judge al one convened by the
Commander, Eighteenth Air Force (AMC). In accordance with his
pl eas, Appellee was found guilty of one specification of
attenpted larceny in violation of Article 80, UCMJ, one
specification of violating of a |awful order in violation of
Article 92, one specification of drunk driving in violation of
Article 111, eleven specifications of larceny in violation of
Article 121, one specification of forgery in violation of
Article 123, one specification of housebreaking in violation of
Article 130, one specification of obstructing justice in
violation of Article 134, and three specifications of indecent
assault in violation of Article 134. 10 U S.C. 88 880, 892,
911, 921, 930, 934 (2000).

Al so on Qctober 11, 2005, the mlitary judge sentenced

Appel | ee to a di shonorabl e di scharge and confi nenent for 20



months. J.A 41.' On November 7, 2005, the convening authority
approved the sentence as adjudged and, except for the

di shonor abl e di scharge, ordered it executed. Convening

Aut hority’s Action.

On February 12, 2009, the Air Force Court of Crim nal
Appeal s set aside the findings of guilty to the three indecent
assault specifications. United States v. Rose, 67 MJ. 630
(AF. . Cim App. 2009) (J.A 1), revid, 68 MJ. 236
(C.A AF. 2009). The court affirmed the findings of guilty to
all of the charges and the remai ni ng specifications. The Ar
Force Court al so set aside the sentence and authorized a
rehearing with respect to the three specifications it set aside
and the sentence.

On April 8, 2009, the Judge Advocate Ceneral of the Ar
Force filed a certificate for review United States v. Rose, 67
MJ. 402 (C.A A F. 2009). On Cctober 28, 2009, this Court set
aside the Air Force Court’s decision and remanded the case for a
new revi ew under Article 66(c). United States v. Rose, 68 MJ.

235 (C. A A F. 2009) (sunmary disposition).

! The Government’s brief appears to use the joint appendi x
previously filed with this Court in 2010 as the source for joint
appendi x citations. Appellee’s answer will do the sanme while
providing the Air Force Court’s opinions upon remand in the
appendi x to this answer.



Upon remand, on June 11, 2010, the Air Force Court of
Crim nal Appeal s once again set aside the findings of guilty to
the three indecent assault specifications. J.A 177 (en banc).

On July 12, 2010, the Judge Advocate General of the Air
Force filed another certificate for reviewin this case. United
States v. Rose, 69 MJ. 198 (C A A F. 2010). On Novenber 9,
2010, this Court noted that the Air Force Court’s second opi nion
did not take action with regard to sone of the findings and the
sentence. United States v. Rose, 69 MJ. 426 (C A A F. 2010)
(summary disposition). This Court remanded the case to the Air
Force Court to conplete its Article 66(c) review |d.

On March 9, 2011, the Air Force Court issued an opinion
upon remand. United States v. Rose, No. ACM 36508 (rem (A. F.
. Cim App. March 9, 2011) (en banc) [Appendix A]. On Apri
7, 2011, the Governnent noved for reconsideration. On August
15, 2011, the Air Force Court granted reconsideration, noted
that it had previously set aside the findings of guilty as to
Specifications 1, 2, and 3 of Charge V, affirnmed the renaining
findings of guilty, set aside the sentence, and authorized a
rehearing on Specifications 1, 2, and 3 of Charge V and the
sentence. United States v. Rose, No. ACM 36508 (rem) (A F. C
Crim App. Aug. 15, 2011) (en banc) [Appendi x B]

On Septenber 30, 2011, Appellee filed a petition for grant

of review and an acconpanyi ng suppl enent raising a challenge to



Appel lee’s Article 134 convictions based on this Court’s
decision in United States v. Fosler, 70 MJ. 225 (C. A A F.
2011). United States v. Rose, = MJ. _ , No. 09-5003/AF
(CAAF Cct. 28, 2011). That petition remains pending before
this Court.

Statement of Facts?

At his general court-martial, Appellee was represented by a
civilian defense counsel, Neal Connors, and by Captain (Capt)
Todd Logan. R at 4. Capt Logan “was a relatively new ADC at
the tine and M. Connors was the |l ead attorney. Because of
this, [Capt] Logan was very deferential to M. Connors’ handling
of AB Rose’s case.” J.A 164.

At his court-martial, Appellee pleaded guilty to, anong
ot her offenses, three indecent assault specifications. R at

12. The mlitary judge found himguilty in accordance with his

2Inits statenent of facts, the Government makes a factua
assertion, unsupported by the record, that a search of a

dat abase purportedly “shows that Appellee, Brandon T. Rose, has
not actually registered as a sex offender in any of the fifty
states.” Governnent’s Brief at 11 n.4. The Governnent’s
reliance on matters fromoutside the record is inproper. Rule
30A of this Honorable Court’s Rules of Practice and Procedure
provides that this “Court will normally not consider any facts
outside of the record established at the trial and the Court of
Crimnal Appeals.” C A AF. R 30A(a). Rule 30A continues,
“Requests to consider factual material that is not contained in
the record shall be presented by a notion to suppl enent the
record filed pursuant to Rule 30.” Id. This Court should
decline to consider the statenents in footnote 4 of the
Government’s brief, which contravene Rule 30A, as well as the
Governnment’s brief’s later reliance on footnote 4. See
Government’s Brief at 28.



pleas. J.A 40. Appellee and the convening authority had
entered into a pretrial agreenment providing for disapproval of
confinenment in excess of 24 nonths. Appellate Exhibit V.
Appel | ee’ s adj udged sentence, however, consisted of only a

di shonor abl e di scharge and confinenent for 20 nonths. J. A 41l.

When Appellee’s case was first pending before the Air Force
Court, that court renmanded the case for a hearing pursuant to
United States v. DuBay, 17 CMR 147, 37 CMR 411 (1967), to
det ermi ne whet her Appell ee received ineffective assistance of
counsel due to m sadvice concerni ng whet her Appell ee woul d have
to register as a sex offender if he pleaded guilty to the three
i ndecent assault specifications. United States v. Rose, No. ACM
36508 (A.F. CGt. Crim App. Sept. 7, 2007) (order).

Before entering into a pretrial agreenent and pl eadi ng
guilty, Appellee repeatedly asked nenbers of his trial defense
t eam whet her he woul d have to register as a sex offender as a
result of his pleas. See, e.g., J.A 89, 97, 100, 105, 124,
130-31. Technical Sergeant (TSgt) Danford, a defense paral egal,
recal | s Appel |l ee asking hi mabout sex offender registration “on
two or three occasions” during telephone calls. J.A 130-31.
Capt Logan recalled that Appellee raised the issue of sex
of fender registration wwth him®“a couple of tinmes” during
t el ephone conversations and believes Appel |l ee asked hi m anot her

time in person while they were preparing for the providence



inquiry. J.A 124. During those conversations, Capt Logan
remenbered, Appellee told him “I won't plead guilty if | have
to register as a sex offender.” 1d. Capt Logan responded that
he could not provide a definitive answer and referred Appellee
to M. Connors. |Id. Capt Logan characterized sex offender
registration as “the key issue” for Appellee. J.A 125.

Bot h Appell ee and M. Connors agree that Appellee asked M.
Connors whet her he woul d have to register as a sex offender if
he pleaded guilty to the indecent assault specifications. J.A
89, 105. Appellee renenbers that M. Connors answered that “he
was not sure, but he did not think I had to due to the fact of
he woul d see no reason with the allegations that were made that
sonmeone woul d have to register for that.” J.A 89. Appellee

agreed that M. Connors never directly stated that Appellee

woul d not have to register as a sex offender, but said, “I see
no reason why you' d have to with these charges.” J.A 32.
Appel | ee al so recounted M. Connors’ advice as “lI don't see why

it would be with the allegations that were brought against you,
| don’t see why that would be a registerable offense.” J.A
100. Appellee testified that M. Connors’ statenents gave him
the inpression that he would not have to register as a sex
offender if he were to plead guilty to all charges and
specifications. J.A 90. “[T]he way he nade it seem was |

woul dn’t have to by everything he was saying.” J.A 101.



Appel | ee expl ai ned that M. Connors’ reaction made himthink he
m ght be overreacting to the possibility of registration,
especially since, in Appellee’ s view, the individual who told
hi m he m ght have to register was not credible. Id.

Appel l ee testified that he “probably brought it up to him
two or three tines and got the same answer every tine.” J.A
100. One tinme when Appellee asked, M. Connors responded that
he would find out. J.A 101. Another tinme, M. Connors said
“he saw no reason why.” |d. Appellee explained that “[t] he
only thing | understood was that fromhis--the way [ M. Connor]
| ooked at it, | would not have to. That’s what | understood.”
J. A 93

“I'l]n the end,” Appellee testified, “I put it in ny
attorney’s hands, and | said, ‘Hey, what’'s the best advice you
can give nme, you know, what to do?” He was like, ‘I don’t see
no reason why you d have to register. M best advice is to go
ahead and sign the PTA’” J.A 93. M. Connors testified that
had he known Appel |l ee woul d have to register as a sex offender,
“l wouldn’'t have advised himto plead guilty to those sex

of fense charges.” J.A 107. M. Connors explained that “we
really didn’t want to plead to those charges” because he thought
t hey exaggerated the severity of Appellee’s m sconduct, which he
considered “just foolery” with acquai ntances. J.A 108, 107.

Wiile he testified that he could not renenber how he responded



to Appellee, M. Connors speculated that “at the tinme, ny
concl usi on may have been it’s not really a credible concern.”
J. A 112.

Appel l ee testified, “If I’d have had to register,
definitely would not have pled guilty.” J.A 90. Appellee
subsequently reiterated that had he known he woul d have to
regi ster as a sex offender if he pleaded guilty to the indecent
assault specifications, he would not have done so. J.A 9l.

Appel | ee made simlar remarks to Capt Logan before trial:
“One thing [Appellee] made clear to ne, and this is the one
thing fromthe case that sticks out is he wasn’'t going to pl ead
to the indecent assaults if he had to register as a sex
of fender, which is understandable.” J.A 121.

Appel I ee testified that followi ng his conviction,
confi nement personnel advised himhe would have to register as a
sex of fender and required himto sign sex offender registration
paperwor k under threat of w thholding good-tinme credit. J.A
90.

The DuBay mlitary judge found as fact that based on the
relati ve consi stency of the DuBay w tnesses’ accounts “and from
observing their demeanor on the stand and the way in which they
answered the questions posed to them all of the w tnesses
appeared to the court to be testifying truthfully and credibly

to the best of their recollection.” J.A 164. Regarding



Appel | ee specifically, the DuBay mlitary judge found as fact
that “like all the witnesses, the court believes [Appellee]
testified truthfully to the best of his recollection.” Id.
Summary of Argument

Appel l ee’s trial defense team provided ineffective
assi stance of counsel. Hs counsel’s representation fell bel ow
an objective |level of reasonabl eness. The civilian defense
counsel s statenents to Appellee would | ead an objective
|istener to believe that Appellee would not have to register as
a sex offender if he were to plead guilty to the indecent
assault specifications. |In fact, the opposite was true. But
even if the civilian defense counsel’s statenents about
registration did not constitute affirmative m sadvice, the trial
defense teamstill provided objectively deficient
representation. Lawers have a well-established ethical
obligation to conply with clients’ reasonabl e requests for
information and to explain nmatters to the extent reasonably
necessary for the client to nake informed decisions. M>DEL RULES
oF PROF L Conouct R 1.4.  Appellee’s counsel violated those
et hical requirenments when they failed to provide himwth
accurate advice despite his many requests to determ ne whet her
pl eading guilty to the indecent assault specifications wuld
require himto register as a sex offender. The trial defense

teami s violation of those bedrock professional responsibility

10



obl i gations concerning an issue they knew was vitally inportant
to their client fell below an objective standard of
reasonabl eness.

Appel | ee was prejudiced by his counsel’s deficient
representation. There is a reasonable probability that had
Appel | ee been properly advised, he would not have pleaded guilty
to the indecent assault specifications. Appellee testified he
woul d not have pleaded guilty to those specifications had he
been properly advised and the mlitary judge presiding over the
DuBay hearing found Appellee’s testinony appeared to be truthful
and credible. Additionally, Appellee’s former mlitary defense
counsel testified that Appellee told himat the tinme that he
woul d not plead guilty if doing so would require himto register
as a sex offender. Significantly, the civilian defense counsel
testified that had he known Appellee would have to register as a
sex offender if he pleaded guilty to the indecent assault
specifications, he would not have reconmended that Appellee
plead guilty to those specifications. Accordingly, the key
guestion is whether there is a reasonable probability that
Appel | ee woul d have pl eaded not guilty to the indecent assault
speci fications had he he known he would have to register as a
sex offender as a result and his civilian defense counsel
advi sed himnot to plead guilty to those specifications. There

is far nore than a reasonabl e probability Appell ee would not

11



have pl eaded guilty under those circunstances. Accordingly,
Appel | ee’ s counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel
and the Air Force Court was right to reverse the findings of
guilty to the indecent assault specifications.
Argument

Appel | ee received ineffective assi stance of

counsel due to his civilian defense

counsel’s m sl eadi ng advi ce concerni ng sex

of fender registration.

Appel | ee received constitutionally deficient
representation. “Before deciding whether to plead guilty, a
defendant is entitled to ‘the effective assistance of conpetent
counsel.”” Padilla v. Kentucky, 130 S. C. 1473, 1480-81 (2010)
(quoting McMann v. Richardson, 397 U. S. 759, 711 (1970)).

Appel lee’s trial defense teamfailed to provide himw th such
assi st ance.

A. Standard of Revi ew

“I'ssues involving ineffective assistance of counsel involve
m xed questions of law and fact. This Court reviews factual
findings under a clearly erroneous standard, but |ooks at the
guestions of deficient performance and prejudi ce de novo.”

United States v. Qutierrez, 66 MJ. 329, 330-31 (C A A F. 2008)

(internal citations omtted).

12



B. Law and Anal ysi s

Mlitary appellate courts analyze ineffective assistance of
counsel clains under the test established by the Suprene Court
in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U. S. 668 (1984). Cutierrez, 66
MJ. at 331. The first prong of this test asks “whether
counsel’s performance fell bel ow an objective standard of
reasonabl eness.” |1d. The second prong asks whether, if so,
“but for the deficiency, the result would have been different.”
Id. An accused “has the burden of denonstrating both deficient
performance and prejudice.” Id.

Appel l ee’s civilian defense counsel provided ineffective
assi stance of counsel. By providing himw th objectively
m sl eadi ng advi ce concerning sex of fender registration, he fel
wel | bel ow an objective standard of reasonabl eness. The second
Strickland prong is satisfied because but for the inaccurate
advice, there is a reasonable probability that Appellee would
not have pleaded guilty to the indecent assault specifications.

1. Appellee’ s defense counsel’ s advice concerning sex

of fender registration fell below an objective standard
of reasonabl eness

Contrary to the m sl eading advice that Appellee’ s civilian
def ense counsel provided, the indecent assault specifications to
whi ch he pleaded guilty would require himto register as a sex
offender. As the Air Force Court explained in its original

decision in Appellee’ s case:

13



Federal registration requirenents pertinent to

[ Appel | ee’ s] offenses are set forth in the Sex

O fender Registration and Notification Act (SORNA), 42
U S. C. 88 16901 et seq. Specifically, 42 U S.C §
16913(a) provides that “[a] sex offender shal

regi ster, and keep the registration current, in each
jurisdiction where the offender resides.” The statute
defines “sex offender” as “an individual who was
convicted of a sex offense.” 42 U.S.C. § 16911(1).
“Sex offenses” include any “crimnal offense that has
an el enment involving a sexual act or sexual contact
with another.” 42 U. S.C. 8§ 16911(5)(A)(i). “Sexual
contact,” though not defined within the body of SORNA,
is el sewhere defined as “the intentional touching,
either directly or through the clothing, of the
genitalia, anus, groin, breast, inner thigh, or
buttocks of any person with an intent to abuse,
hum | i ate, harass, degrade or arouse or gratify the
sexual desire of any person.” Crines and Cri m nal
Procedures, 18 U. S.C. 8§ 2246(3). Wthin the context
of this case, at least two of the three indecent
assault offenses of which [Appellee] was found guilty
meet this definition. |In addition, SORNA al so

i ndicates that qualifying “crimnal offenses” include
those “specified by the Secretary of Defense [ SECDEF]
under section 115(a)(8)(C (i) of Public Law 105-119
(10 U.S.C. 951 note)....” 42 U S.C. § 16911(6). The
SECDEF has identified qualifying offenses in

Depart ment of Defense Instruction (DODI) 1325.7,

Adm nistration of Mlitary Correctional Facilities and
Cl enmency and Parole Authority (17 Jul 2001), and such
of fenses i nclude indecent assault. DOD 1325.7, 11
6.18.5.1, 6.18.6.1, Enclosure 27.

J.A 5.

G ven that indecent assault is expressly designated as a
regi sterabl e of fense under the governing DOD I nstruction,
Appel | ee’ s counsel shoul d have responded to his many queries by
informng himthat, yes, he would be subject to sex offender
registration if he were to plead guilty to the indecent assault

specifications. But instead of giving such advice, Appellee’s

14



counsel provided advice that would | ead a reasonabl e reci pi ent
to believe that he did not have to register.

The Governnent’s brief argues that Appellee’ s offenses did
not require registration under the law as it existed in 2005 in
Florida or Al abama. Governnent’'s Brief at 25. But this
argunment i s based on one non-existent state statute and an
i nconpl ete reading of a second state statute. In its analysis,
the Governnent cites Ala. Code 8§ 15-20A-5 (2005). Governnment’s
Brief at 26. But there is no 2005 version of Al abama Code 8§ 15-
20A-5; that statute was adopted in 2011. See 2011 Ala. Laws Act
2011-640. Its effective date was July 1, 2011. Al a. Code 8§
15-20A-5 (2011). The 2011 act repeal ed the previous Al abama sex
of fense registration statutes. One of those repeal ed
provi sions, 8 13A-11-200 (which was in effect at the tinme of
Appel l ee’s court-martial), required any Al abana resident
convicted in federal court of “any sexual abuse of any nenber of
the sane or the opposite sex or any attenpt to commt” such an
act to register. Ala. Code § 13A-11-200 (2005). Al abama |aw
defines sexual abuse in the first degree as including
“subj ect[ing] another person to sexual contact who is incapable
of consent by reason of being physically helpless or nentally
incapacitated.” Ala. Code 8 13A-6-66 (2011). (This portion of
the statute was the sanme in 2005). Sexual contact under Al abanma

| aw i ncl udes contact with a woman’s breasts for purposes of
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sexual gratification. See, e.g., Ex parte A.T.M, 804 So. 2d
171, 174 (Ala. 2000). According to the stipulation of fact,
Appel | ee fondl ed and kissed Ms. N.D.B.’s breasts, despite her
protestations, while she was in a blacked out state, apparently
nmoving in and out of consciousness after an evening of drinking.
See P.E. 1, 97 10-13, J.A 44. Appellee did so, according to
the stipulation, “with the intent to gratify his sexual
desires.” 1d., § 13. Thus, according to the facts set out in
the stipulation, he would be required to register as a sex

of fender under Al abama |law. The Al abama Court of Crim nal
Appeal s has also held that the crinme of sexual abuse is

est abl i shed where the accused grabs a victimand then “grab[s]
her between the legs in her genital area,” A B.T. v. State, 620
So. 2d 120 (Ala. . Cim App. 1992), which is simlar to the
stipulation of fact’s description of Appellee’s conduct with AlLC
T.MG See Prosecution Exhibit 1, § 8, J.A 43. Registration
woul d thus be required for that reason as well.

So Appell ee woul d have been required to register as a sex
of fender under Al abama |law in 2005 and woul d be required to do
so today. Al abama Code 8§ 15-20A-5 (2011) requires sex offender
regi stration of anyone convicted in federal court of a crine
simlar to 31 specified offenses, including violations of Ala.

Code 8 13A-6-66. 1d. at (31), (3). As discussed above, at
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| east two of Appellee’s convictions are for offenses simlar to
violations of Ala. Code § 13A-6-66.

Florida s sex offender registration statute provides that
soneone who noves to Florida nust register as a sex offender if
that person would be required to register as a sex offender in
another state if the individual were a resident of that state.
Fla. Stat. 8 943.0435(1)(a)l.b (2011). A simlar provision was
in effect in 2005. See Fla. Stat. 8§ 943.0435(1)(a)3 (2005).
This provision would require Appellee to register in Florida if
he were to nove there, since he would be required to register as
a sex offender in Illinois if he were a resident of that state.

Since 2002, Illinois |law has specifically included
convi ctions under the Uniform Code of MIlitary Justice as
regi sterable offenses. See 730 IlIl. Conp. Stat. 150/2 (2011);
2001 Il1l. Legis. Serv. P.A 92-828. |In both 2005 and today,
I1linois law s definition of a sex offender for registration
pur poses i ncluded soneone convicted of crimnal sexual abuse or
a substantially simlar UCM) offense. See 730 Ill. Conp. Stat.
150/ 2 (2005). Illinois |aw defines crimnal sexual abuse as
commtting “an act of sexual conduct by the use of force or
threat of force” and commtting “an act of sexual conduct”
knowi ng “that the victimis unable to understand the nature of
the act or is unable to give knowi ng consent.” 720 Il1l. Conp.

Stat. 5/11-1.50 (2011). Crimnal sexual abuse had the sane
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definition under Illinois lawin 2005 See 720 IIl. Conp. Stat.
12-15 (2005). Illinois case |aw defines “force” for sexual

of fenses purposes to include acconplishing sexual conduct by
surprise. See, e.g., People v. Borak, 301 NE. 2d 1, 5 (III.
App. & . 1973); People v. Deenadayalu, 772 N E. 2d 323 (IIIl. App.
Ct. 2002). In 2005, Illinois |aw defined “sexual conduct” as
“any intentional or know ng touching or fondling by the victim
or the accused, either directly or through clothing, of the sex
organs, anus or breast of the victimor the accused for the

pur pose of sexual gratification or arousal of the victimor the

accused.” People v. WIlson, 824 N E.2d 191, 197 (IIl. 2005)
(quoting 720 Ill. Conp. Stat. 5/12-12(e) (West 2000)); see also
720 111. Conp. Stat. 5/11-0.1 (2011) (setting out simlar

definition of sexual conduct). The stipulation of fact in this
case sets out surprise touching of one victinms sexual organ and
t he touchi ng and ki ssing of another victim s breasts over her
protestations while she was in a blacked out state due to
intoxication. See P.E. 1, Y 6-13, J. A 43-44. Convictions for
t hose offenses would require Appellee to register as a sex
offender in Illinois. And because he would be required to

regi ster as a sex offender if he were a resident of Illinois,
Florida law in 2005 (and now) would require himto register as a
sex of fender upon noving to that state. See Fla. Stat. §

943.0435(1)(a)3 (2005). Thus, contrary to the Government’s
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argunent, Appell ee woul d have been subject to sex offender
registration in Florida, Al abama, and Illinois. He would have
been required to register in nmany other states (and the District
of Colunmbia) as well. See, e.g., Alaska Stat. 8§ 12.63.100(6)(B)
(2005); Cal. Penal Code § 290(a)(2)(A) (2005); D.C. Code § 22-
4001(8) (A), (G (2005); N Y. Correct. § 168-a.2(a), (d)

(McKi nney 2005). Hence, Appellee’s trial defense counsel’s
performance fell below an objective | evel of reasonabl eness when
he was not advised that he would have to register and, on the
contrary, received assurances that would | ead a reasonabl e
person to believe that he would not have to register.

By repeatedly m sadvi sing Appell ee concerning the | aw
governing sex offender registration, his trial defense team fel
wel | bel ow an objectively reasonable | evel of representation.

As the Air Force Court observed, “Nunerous federal courts
have held that affirmative m srepresentati ons by counsel about
significant collateral consequences of a conviction may
constitute ineffective assistance of counsel.” J.A 179 (citing
United States v. Kwan, 407 F.3d 1005, 1015-16 (9th Cr. 2005);
United States v. Cuoto, 311 F.3d 179, 187-88, 191 (2d G r
2002)). Appellee received such affirmative m srepresentations
fromhis counsel about a significant collateral consequence of

hi s convi ction.
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There can be no question as to the significance of the sex
of fender registration collateral consequence, either as a
general matter or to Appellee specifically. This Court has
concluded that “the requirenent of registering as a sex offender
is a serious consequence of a conviction.” United States v.
Mller, 63 MJ. 452, 458 (C. A A F. 2006). And Capt Logan
testified that sex offender registration was “the key issue” for
Appel lee. J. A 125. Appellee’s civilian defense counsel
m sadvi sed himconcerning that significant collatera
consequence.

The court bel ow concluded “that the advice affirmatively
m srepresented the requirenment for [Appellee] to register as a
sex offender if he pled guilty to indecent assault.” J.A 180.
The court expl ai ned:

The statenments of [Appellee’ s] civilian defense
counsel clearly attenpt to mnimze the seriousness of
the i ndecent assault charges and assure [Appell ee]

that he would not have to register as a sex offender.
In his testinony at the DuBay hearing, M. NC,

[ Appel | ee’ s] civilian defense counsel, repeatedly used
such phrases as “fairly innocuous” and “just foolery”
to describe the sexual assault offenses. M. NC
clainmed | ack of nenory on many points but, in response
to questions fromthe mlitary judge, did recal

concl udi ng that sex offender registration was “not
really a credi ble concern.” Consistent with this
testinmony, [Appellee] testified that when he directly
asked M. NC if sex offender registration would be
required M. NCtold him *I don't see why it would
be with the allegations that were brought against you.
| don’t see why that would be a registerable offense.”
The mlitary judge at the DuBay hearing found
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[ Appel | ee’ s] testinony regarding his interactions with
civilian defense counsel credible.

J. A 180.
The Air Force Court reasoned:

The advice by [Appellee’ s] civilian defense counsel is
anal ogous to that in Kwan, wherein the court found

i neffective assistance of counsel based on faulty

advi ce concerning deportation. In Kwan, the court
found that counsel affirmatively msled his client
when he “assured Kwan that although there was
technically a possibility of deportation, ‘it was not
a serious possibility.”” Kwan, 407 F.3d at 1008
(enmphasi s added).

The court pointed to the effect that the civilian defense
counsel’s words woul d have on a lay client:

Uneducated in the ways of ‘|awer speak,’ [Appell ee]

was not required to further ferret out and elimnate

potential inconsistencies in his counsel’s response,

but was entitled to rely on the totality of the advice

given to himby the professional |awer representing

hi m and whom he under st andably expected to know t he

I aw.
J.A 181 (quoting Rose, 67 MJ. at 634-35). The court refused
to allow “this lawer’s msleading advice . . . to hide behind
the fine print of equivocation when the totality of the advice
clearly conveyed that [Appellee] would not have to register as
sex offender if he pled guilty.” Id.

Appel l ee testified that “in the end,” he placed the issue

in his attorney’s hands and asked M. Connors for his “best

advi ce” about what he should do. J.A 93. M. Connors replied
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that he did not see any reason why Appell ee would have to

regi ster and advised himto sign the pretrial agreenent. Id.
That response was not a failure to advise; it was m sadvi ce.
And that m sadvice violates Strickland' s first prong. As the
Air Force Court concluded, “Erroneous advice in this inportant
area falls measurably below the | evel of perfornmance reasonably
expected of professional |egal counsel.” J.A 181.

But even if the trial defense teanis responses to
Appel I ee’ s queries about sex offender registration did not rise
to the level of msadvice, the trial defense teanis failure to
conply with Appellee’ s reasonable requests for infornmation stil
of fends Strickland s deficient performance prong. This is not a
case like MIller, where the topic of sex offender registration
apparently never canme up between the accused and his trial
def ense counsel and the issue was whether the trial defense
counsel shoul d have broached the topic wth the accused. See 63
MJ. 452. Rather, in this case, Appellee repeatedly asked his
counsel about sex offender registration and his counsel
understood the significance of the issue to Appellee. Failing
to provide advice in that context is objectively unreasonable.

An attorney practicing before an Air Force court-marti al
has an ethical obligation to “pronptly conply with reasonabl e
requests for information.” AR FORCE RULES OF PROF’ L ConDucT R

1.4(a) [Appendix C]. Such an attorney is ethically required to
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“explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permt
the client to nmake informed decisions regarding the
representation.” Id. at R 1.4(b). These provisions are
identical to their counterparts in the ABA Mydel Rul es of

Prof essi onal Conduct, as well as their counterparts under the
Rul es of Professional Conduct in Illinois and M ssouri, where
M. Connors is licensed. R at 4; see M»DEL RULES OF PROF’' L CONDUCT
R 1.4; lLL. RuEs oF PrRoF L Conouct R 1.4; Md. RuLES oF ProF L ConbucT
R 1.4. Appellee’s trial defense team viol ated t hese et hi cal
requi renents when they failed to conply with Appellee’s repeated
requests to determ ne whether pleading guilty to the indecent
assault specifications would require himto register as a sex
of fender. These violations are significant because in
Strickland itself, the Supreme Court observed, “Prevailing norns
of practice as reflected in Amrerican Bar Associ ation standards
and the like, e.g., ABA Standards for Crimnal Justice 4-1.1 to
4-8.6 (2d ed. 1980) (‘' The Defense Function’), are guides to
determ ning what is reasonable,” though they are “only guides.”
Strickland, 455 U. S. at 688; see also Padilla, 130 S. C. at
1482. The violation of such bedrock ethical requirenents
concerni ng what Appellee’ s counsel knew was his “key issue,”
J.A 125, falls well bel ow an objective standard of

r easonabl eness.
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That conclusion is consistent with the Suprene Court’s
decision in Padilla v. Kentucky, 130 S. C. 1473 (2010). 1In
Padilla, the Court held that when a crimnal conviction could
result in the defendant’s deportation, the defendant’s counsel
must provi de advice concerning the risk of deportation. 130 S
Ct. at 1483. The Court rejected a distinction between
“affirmative m sadvice” and failure to advise. |1d. at 1484.

The Court reasoned that “[a] holding limted to affirmative

m sadvice would invite . . . absurd results.” 1d. Such a
hol di ng “woul d gi ve counsel an incentive to remain silent on
matters of great inportance, even when answers are readily
avai |l abl e. Silence under these circunstances would be
fundanmentally at odds with the critical obligation of counsel to
advise the client of ‘the advantages and di sadvantages of a plea
agreenent.’” |d. (quoting Libretti v. United States, 516 U. S.
29, 50-51 (1995)).

In Padilla, the Court held that when the deportation
consequences of a conviction are clear, the defense counsel has
a duty to give correct advice. |d. at 1483. Were “the lawis
not succinct and straightforward, . . . a crimnal defense
attorney need do no nore than advise a noncitizen client that
pending crimnal charges may carry a risk of adverse imm gration
consequences.” 1d. Extrapolating Padilla into this sex

of fender registration context, here, as the Air Force Court

24



concl uded below, the |law was clear: “Even cursory research
woul d have di scl osed that conviction of the indecent assaults
carried a substantial risk that [Appellee] would have to
register as a sex offender.” J.A 181. But even if the
applicable law is not considered clear, the trial defense team
failed to satisfy even the | ess rigorous standard. The trial
def ense team did not advi se Appellee that pleading guilty to the
i ndecent assault specifications carried a risk of sex offender
registration. On the contrary, M. Connors repeatedly suggested
that pleading guilty carried no such risk. M. Connors’
approach to the question was so dism ssive that Appellee thought
his concern over the issue m ght be an overreaction, |eading him
to doubt the warning that a lowcredibility source had provided
to himabout the risk of sex offender registration. J.A 101.
Thus, just as in Padilla, instead of inform ng thensel ves and
provi di ng accurate advice, Appellee’ s trial defense team
provi ded “fal se assurances.” Padilla, 130 S. C. at 1483.

Appel lee’s trial defense teamthus fell bel ow an objective
| evel of reasonabl eness regardl ess of whether the civilian
def ense counsel’s statenents are considered m sadvice. A
reasonabl e defense counsel faced with Appellee’ s repeated
queries about the issue would have inforned hinself about the
| aw and provided accurate advice. That did not occur in this

case.
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2. Appellee was prejudiced by his counsel’s deficient
advi ce because there is a reasonable probability that
had he been correctly advi sed, Appellee would not have
pl eaded guilty to the indecent assault specifications

Once it is determ ned that counsel’s performance fell bel ow
t he obj ective reasonabl eness standard, the next inquiry is
whet her Appel |l ee was prejudiced. Prejudice will be found where
“there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s
errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and woul d have insisted
on going to trial.” United States v. Tippit, 65 MJ. 69, 76
(C.A AF 2007). As this Court has explained, “The focus is not
on the outcone of a potential trial, but on ‘whether counsel’s
constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcone of
the plea process.”” Denedo v. United States, 66 MJ. 114, 129
(C.A A F 2008) (quoting H Il v. Lockhart, 474 U S. 52, 59
(1985)), aff’'d, 556 U.S. 904 (2009).

That prejudice standard is satisfied here.

The record establishes that had the civilian defense
counsel properly advised Appellee, the civilian defense counsel
“woul dn’t have advised himto plead guilty to those sex offense
charges.” J.A 107. So the question for prejudice purposes is
whet her, had Appell ee been correctly advi sed concerning the sex
of fender registration requirenment, there is a reasonabl e

probability that he would not have pleaded guilty to the

i ndecent assault specifications when his civilian defense
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counsel advised himnot to. The record answers that question.
Appel | ee explained that “in the end, | put it in ny attorney’s
hands, and | said, ‘Hey, what’s the best advice you can give ne,
you know, what to do.”” J.A 93. W know that had the civilian
def ense counsel provided Appellee with proper advice concerning
the sex offender registration issue, he would have told Appellee
that his best advice was not to plead guilty to the indecent
assault specifications. J.A 107.

The standard for determning prejudice in this context is
whet her “there is a reasonable probability that, but for
counsel’s errors, [Appellee] would not have pleaded guilty and
woul d have insisted on going to trial.” Tippit, 65 MJ. at 76.
Had the civilian defense counsel advised Appellee not to plead
guilty to the indecent assault specifications--as we know he
woul d have had he properly advi sed Appel | ee concerning
registration--there is far nore than a “reasonabl e probability”
t hat Appel | ee woul d not have pleaded guilty to the indecent
assault specifications. Appellee decided to put the question in
his attorney’s hands. Hi's attorney would have deci ded agai nst
pl eading guilty. Accordingly, Strickland s second prong is
sati sfied.

Even wi t hout considering how the civilian defense counsel
woul d have advi sed Appellee, the record establishes a

“reasonabl e probability” that Appell ee would have pl eaded not
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guilty to the indecent assault specifications had he been
properly advised. Appellee testified, under penalty of perjury,
that “[i]f 1'd have had to register, | definitely would not have
pled guilty.” J.A 90. The DuBay mlitary judge found as a
matter of fact that she believed Appellee “testified truthfully
to the best of his recollection.” J.A 164. She also found,
based in part on deneanor while testifying and “the way in which
t hey answered the questions posed to them” that all of the
wi t nesses, including Appellee, “appeared to the court to be
testifying truthfully and credibly to the best of their
recol lection.” 1d.

Appel l ee’s credi ble testinony that he woul d not have
pl eaded guilty had he been properly advised is sufficient to
nmeet the “reasonable probability” standard. But there is far
nore in the record than Appellee’s own word to support that
concl usi on.

Capt Logan testified that sex offender registration was
“the key issue” for Appellee. J.A 125. Capt Logan expl ai ned
that “[o]ne thing [Appellee] nade clear to nme, and this is the
one thing fromthe case that sticks out is he wasn't going to
plead to the indecent assaults if he had to register as a sex
of fender, which is understandable.” J.A 121. That statenent
corroborates Appellee’ s post-trial testinony that the

regi stration i ssue woul d have been a deal breaker.
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The credibility of Appellee’s claimis further corroborated
by testinony concerning the defense’s reluctance to plead guilty
to the indecent assault specifications. M. Connors testified
that “we really didn’t want to plead to those charges.” J. A
108. Appellee testified that he felt that there were facts or
i ssues concerning the indecent assault specifications that could
have been litigated at trial. J.A 90. Capt Logan testified
that he had told the Scott Air Force Base Chief of Justice that
“we probably wouldn’t be able to plead to that, that we nmay have
to | ook at either dism ssing, wthdrawi ng those charges, or sone
other alternative.” J.A 121. That confirns that at the tine
of trial, the defense team i ncluding Appellee hinself, was
reluctant to plead guilty to the indecent assault
specifications. Gven that reluctance, it is highly credible
that the registration requirenment woul d have been a deal
br eaker .

I gnoring the DuBay mlitary judge s finding that Appellee
appeared truthful and credi ble, one of the dissenting judges
bel ow di sbel i eved Appellee’ s testinony and reasoned that sex
of fender registration was not really a deal breaker for him
since he never obtained a definitive answer and did not raise
the issue with the mlitary judge on the record when he could
have done so. See J.A 193-96 (Thonmpson, J., dissenting). But

t hat overl ooks Appellee’'s testinony during the DuBay hearing
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suggesting that he stopped raising the issue because his
civilian defense counsel’s disni ssive reaction convinced him he
was overreacting to the possibility. See J.A 101. This
testinmony rings true for several reasons. First, nore than two
years after the trial, the civilian defense counsel’s attitude
toward the registration issue still seened dismssive at the
DuBay hearing. See J.A 30-31. Additionally, the civilian

def ense | awyer had been practicing since 1989--nore than 15
years at the tine Appellee was tried--including service as a

j udge advocate in the Marine Corps. J.A 103-04. Appellee’s
mlitary defense counsel was deferential to him J.A 164. A
| ayperson such as Appellee would naturally assunme that his
civilian defense counsel had far nore know edge about
registration requirenents than he did. In short, the dism ssive
reaction froman apparently well-credential ed experi enced

pr of essi onal woul d have nmade Appellee feel foolish if he
continued to raise the issue. Unfortunately, M. Connors did
not exercise the |level of conpetence that woul d reasonably be
expected of an ordinary counsel, much less a fornmer judge
advocate who had been practicing |law for 15 years. As the

maj ority bel ow reasoned, it was the |lawer’s responsibility to
refrain from providing m sl eading advi ce, not Appellee’s
responsibility to sift through “lawer speak” to determ ne the

degree of wiggle roomin his civilian defense counsel’s
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di sm ssive statenents about the possibility Appellee would be
required to register as a sex offender. J.A 181 (quoting Rose,
67 MJ. at 634-35).

The Governnent al so argues that the I ength of confinenent,
not any issue regarding sex offender registration, was “the
controlling concern” that |led Appellee to enter into the
pretrial agreenent. See Governnent Brief at 28-31. O course a
limtation on confinenment was the factor that | ed Appellee to
enter into the pretrial agreenment; it was the only thing he
received by entering into the pretrial agreenent. See Appellate
Exhibit V. Appellee’ s concern over sex offender registration
was not a factor that would have led himto enter into a
pretrial agreenent; rather, it was a concern that woul d have
prevented himfromentering into a pretrial agreenent. That
potential inpedinent to entering the pretrial agreenent having
been resolved in his mnd, Appellee then entered into the
pretrial agreenent to receive the protection of its confinenent
cap.

Addi ng the advice M. Connors woul d have given Appellee to
pl ead not guilty to the indecent assault specifications to al
of these other indicia that Appellee would not have pl eaded
guilty had he been properly advised results in nore than a
“reasonabl e probability” that the counsel’s objectively

deficient performance affected Appellee s pleas. Accordingly,
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both prongs of the ineffective assistance of counsel analysis
are satisfied.
Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, this Honorable Court should
affirmthe Air Force Court’s decision and return the record to
t he Judge Advocate General of the Air Force for further
proceedi ngs consistent with that opinion.
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GREGORY, Senior Judge:

In our en banc decision following the first remand of this case to reconsider the
issue of ineffective assistance of counsel, a majority again found ineffective assistance of
counsel and set aside the findings of guilty of specifications 1, 2, and 3 of Charge V.
Understanding our authority upon the first remand as limited to those specifications in
Charge V, we addressed the remaining charges and specifications by summarily referring
to our earlier decision in which the findings on the remaining charges were affirmed. Our
superior court has clarified that we should act on the remaining charges and the sentence.
United States v. Rose, No. 09-5003/AF (C.A.A.F. 9 Nov 2010) (mem.)

Consistent with our initial decision, we dismiss specifications 1, 2, and 3 of
Charge V and affirm the remaining findings of guilty. Based on our dismissal of the
three indecent assault specifications, we next analyze the case to determine whether we
can reassess the sentence. See United States v. Doss, 57 M.J. 182, 185 (C.A.A.F. 2002).
Before reassessing a sentence, this Court must be confident “that, absent any error, the
sentence adjudged would have been of at least a certain severity.” United States v. Sales,
22 M.J. 305, 308 (C.M.A. 1986). A “dramatic change in the ‘penalty landscape’”
gravitates away from our ability to reassess a sentence. United States v. Riley, 58 M.J.
305, 312 (C.A.A.F. 2003). Ultimately, a sentence can be reassessed only if we
“confidently can discern the extent of the error’s effect on the sentencing authority’s
decision.” United States v. Reed, 33 M.J. 98, 99 (C.M.A. 1991). In United States v.
Harris, 53 M.J. 86, 88 (C.A.A.F. 2000), our superior court decided that if the appellate
court “cannot determine that the sentence would have been at least of a certain
magnitude,” it must order a rehearing. 1d. (citing United States v. Poole, 26 M.J. 272,
274 (C.M.A. 1988)).

For the remaining affirmed findings of guilty of multiple larcenies, attempted
larceny, unlawful entry to commit larceny, forgery, obstruction of justice, drunk driving,
and violation of a lawful order, the appellant still faced a maximum punishment of a
dishonorable discharge and confinement for 26 years. Considering the evidence in the
record, we are confident that the military judge would have imposed at least a
dishonorable discharge and confinement for 17 months for these remaining offenses, and
we reassess the sentence accordingly. This reassessed sentence is appropriate for the
affirmed findings of guilty and purges the prejudicial error. Sales, 22 M.J. at 307-08; see
United States v. Peoples, 29 M.J. 426, 428 (C.M.A. 1990) (appellate court must put itself
“in the shoes” of the sentencing authority when reassessing the sentence).

Conclusion
Specifications 1, 2, and 3 of Charge V are dismissed. The remaining findings and

sentence, as reassessed to a dishonorable discharge and confinement for 17 months, are
correct in law and fact, and no error prejudicial to the substantial rights of the appellant

2 ACM 36508 (rem)



occurred. Article 66(c), UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 866(c); United States v. Reed, 54 M.J. 37, 41
(C.A.A.F. 2000). Accordingly, the remaining findings and sentence, as reassessed, are

AFFIRMED.

Judge Roan did not participate.

OFFICIAL

STEVEN LUCAS
Clerk of the Court

3 ACM 36508 (rem)
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UNITED STATES AIR FORCE COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS

UNITED STATES, ACM 36508 (rem)

)
Appellee )
)
v. )
) ORDER
Airman Basic (E-1) )
BRANDON T. ROSE, )
USAF, )
Appellant ) En Banc

The Government’s Motion for Reconsideration of our 9 March 2011 decision on
remand is granted. Upon further consideration of the remand orders in this case, our
9 March 2011 decision appears to exceed the authorized scope of the remand order of
9 November 2010 by taking additional action on the findings regarding Specifications
1, 2, and 3 of Charge V.

Our initial decision in this case set aside the findings of guilty as to Specifications
1, 2, and 3 of Charge V, affirmed the remaining findings of guilty, set aside the sentence,
and authorized a rehearing on Specifications 1, 2, and 3 of Charge V and the sentence.
United States v. Rose, 67 M.J. 630 (A.F. Ct. Crim. App.), rev’d, 68 M.J. 236 (C.A.A.F.
2009) (mem.). Upon remand to reconsider our finding of ineffective assistance of
counsel regarding Specifications 1, 2, and 3 of Charge V, we again found ineffective
assistance of counsel and set aside the findings of guilty asto Specifications 1, 2, and 3 of
Charge V. United States v. Rose, ACM 36508 (f rev) (A.F. Ct. Crim. App. 11 June 2010)
(unpub. op.), rev’d, 69 M.J. 426 (C.A.A.F. 2010) (mem.). We noted that “we previously
affirmed the findings of guilty as to the remaining charges and specifications but set aside
the sentence and authorized a rehearing with respect to Specifications 1, 2, and 3 of
Charge V and the sentence...” Id.

However, the case was again remanded for us to again expressly act on those
remaining charges and specifications and the sentence. Rose, 69 M.J. at 426.
On 9 March 2011, a newly constituted en banc panel affirmed the remaining findings of
guilty and, in acting on the sentence, reassessed the sentence after dismissing
Specifications 1, 2, and 3 of Charge V. United States v. Rose, ACM 36508 (rem) (A.F.
Ct. Crim. App. 9 March 2011) (unpub. op.). Although dismissa of the affected
specifications and reassessment of the sentence appeared to be in the best interest of both
justice and judicial economy, it also appears, in light of reconsideration based on the
briefs of the parties to exceed the scope of the second remand by taking additional action
regarding Specifications 1, 2, and 3 of Charge V.

ACM 36508 (rem)



Accordingly, it is by the Court on this 15th day of August, 2011,

ORDERED:

Wherefore, consistent with our initial decision in this matter and within the
parameters of the remand orders, the findings of guilty asto Specifications 1, 2, and 3 of
Charge V having aready been set aside, we affirm the remaining findings of guilty, set
aside the sentence, and authorize a rehearing on Specifications 1, 2, and 3 of Charge V
and the sentence.

Judges BRAND, ORR, GREGORY/, and WEISS concur.

Judge ROAN did not participate.

FOR THE COURT

OFFICIAL

STEVEN LUCAS
Clerk of the Court
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Rule 1.3. DILIGENCE
A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client.
Rule 1.4. COMMUNICATION

(a) A lawyer shall keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and promptly
comply with reasonable requests for information.

(b) A lawyer shall explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make
informed decisions regarding the representation.

Rule 1.5. FEES
[Omitted as inapplicable to military practice.]
DISCUSSION

Air Force lawyers do not charge or collect fees. Civilian lawyers who do are regulated and may be
sanctioned by state or federal bar authorities.

Rule 1.6. CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION

(a) A lawyer shall not reveal information relating to representation of a client unless the client
consents after consultation, except for disclosures that are implicitly authorized in order to carry out the
representation, and except as stated in paragraph (b).

(b) A lawyer may reveal such information to the extent the lawyer reasonably believes necessary:

(1) [Modified] to prevent the client from committing a criminal act that the lawyer believes is
likely to result in imminent death or substantial bodily harm, or substantial impairment of national security or
the readiness or capability of a military unit, vessel, aircraft, or weapons system; or

(2) to establish a claim or defense on behalf of the lawyer in a controversy between the
lawyer and client, to establish a defense to a criminal charge or civil claim against the lawyer based upon
conduct in which the client was involved, or to respond to allegations in any proceeding concemning a lawyer's
representation of the client.

DISCUSSION

Subparagraph (b)(1) was expanded to include substantial impairment to national security and
readiness, recognizing the realities of the mission of the United States Air Force. A lawyer's duty to a client
is a strong one. [fit is possible for the lawyer to act to prevent ongoing or potential criminal misconduct
without violating a client confidence, those actions should always be considered first. In the circumstances
described in the rule, a lawyer is excused from his fundamental obligation to preserve client confidences.
See also Rule 1.13, Rule 5.4, and Standard 4-3.7.

Rule 1.7. CONFLICT OF INTEREST: GENERAL RULE

(a) A lawyer shall not represent a client if the representation of that client will be directly adverse to
another client, unless:

(1) the lawyer reasonably believes the representation will not adversely affect the
relationship with the other client; and

(2) each client consents after consultation.

TJS-2, AF Rules of Prof Conduct and Standards for Civility Attachment 1, Page 5 of 24
AF Rules of Prof Conduct, 17 Aug 05
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